IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RAY LAMAR JOHNSTON,

Appellant, :

vs. : Case No. SC00-979

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Appellee. :

:

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

STEVEN L. BOLOTIN Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0236365

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ray Johnston was charged by indictment on September 3, 1997, and by superseding indictment on September 10, 1997, in Hillsborough County with first degree murder of Leanne Coryell, kidnapping, robbery, sexual battery, and burglary of a conveyance (1/59-70). The case proceeded to trial on June 7-17, 1999 before Circuit Judge Diana M. Allen and a jury, and appellant was found guilty as charged on each count (5/753-54; 15/1415-17). After the penalty phase, the jury recommended a death sentence by a 12-0 vote (5/777; 18/1187), and on March 13, 2000, Judge Allen imposed the death penalty on Count One, consecutive life sentences on Counts Two, Four, and Five, and 15 years imprisonment on County Three (robbery) (SR31-32; 5/856-76; 18/1838-39). This appeal follows (5/877).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. Trial

Leanne Coryell, a divorced woman with one child, lived at the Landings apartment complex in the Carrollwood area of Tampa, and was employed as an orthodontic assistant (8/287,299; 10/605-06; 12/972-73). On August 19, 1997, around 6:00 p.m., Ms. Coryell phoned her friend Skylar Norris from work, and told her that she was planning to leave work when they closed at 8:00, stop at Publix, and then go home (12/906-07). The orthodontist, Dr. Dyer, left the office around 8:00 or 8:15; Ms. Coryell and his other assistant Melissa Hill were still there when he left

(12/881-83). Ms. Coryell and Ms. Hill clocked out at 8:39, but did not leave until five or ten minutes after that, because they had difficulty setting the newly installed alarm. Ms. Coryell phoned Dr. Dyer's wife, who explained how to set the alarm (8/286-91,309-12). Ms. Hill testified that Ms. Coryell was wearing her uniform, consisting of khaki pants and a navy blue shirt with Dr. Dyer's logo (8/292-93,304; see 12/882-83). Her car was a black Infiniti. Ms. Hill last saw her driving in the direction of Dale Mabry (8/287,291-92). At 9:23 p.m., Ms. Coryell went through the cashier line at a Publix supermarket on North Dale Mabry. The cashier knew her from her shopping there. She paid for her groceries with a check. A security videotape made by the store, showing Ms. Coryell in the cashier line, was introduced into evidence (8/332-34, 347-50; 9/528-29).

Ray Johnston (appellant), Gary Senchak, and Margaret Vasquez shared a three bedroom apartment at the Landings (8/351-55; 9/409). Relations among the three roommates had become strained (9/411,422, 425-27). On August 18, 1997, an eviction notice for nonpayment of rent was posted on the door. This led to an argument, in which appellant told Senchak (accurately, as it turned out) that he had paid it by money order (8/358; see 14/1176-84). The next day, August 19, Senchak left a note for appellant requesting \$163.92, which he claimed was owed for cable and phone bills (8/356-68, 382).

That evening, Margaret Vasquez went to church at nearby St. Timothy's around 8:30 p.m. (8/360; 9/411-12,418). Shortly

thereafter, appellant wrinkled up Senchak's note and said something like "I'm not giving you a damn dime" (8/360-61).

Appellant then left the apartment (8/362). Senchak paged Ms.

Vasquez, and she returned to the apartment around 9:30 or 10:00 (8/362-63; 9/412-13). Sometime around 10:00 or after 10:00, appellant came back to the apartment, went into Senchak's room, and threw 60 to 65 dollars on the bed, saying something like "That's all you're getting, you son-of-a-bitch" (8/364-65; see 9/414).

Senchak testified that appellant drove a Buick Skyhawk, which had been in a collision; the front end was wrecked and the headlights were out of alignment (8/369-71,375-76).

Around 10:30 or 10:40 on the night of August 19, John Debnar was walking his dogs on the property of St. Timothy's Church (9/443-44). As he walked down the pathway between a clump of trees and the pond, he noticed a pair of women's shoes on the ground (9/445-46). Debnar then saw a vehicle enter the church lot; it turned around in the loop and stopped by the basketball hoop, where another automobile was parked. Debnar thought the car which entered the lot was an older model Celica, not a Buick Skyhawk. It was gray or light blue, faded out, and one headlight beam (he thought it was the left one) shined almost straight up, as if it had been hit. Debnar could not see the driver well enough to tell even sex or race, and he couldn't tell if there were any passengers (9/447-48, 461). The first car stayed parked

next to the other car for 30-45 seconds, then exited the church lot (9/453).

Debnar played with his dogs for about ten minutes more, and then headed for home. One dog stopped at the pond, and when Debnar went back to retrieve him, he saw a body on the edge of the pond, maybe two feet inside the water (9/453-57, 462). The body was that of a white female with blonde hair (9/454-55). Debnar testified that her dress or skirt was hiked up above her waist, and she had on some kind of print or floral underwear (9/456, 462-64). Debnar grabbed his dog and "hightailed it" out of there; he didn't get anywhere near the body (9/455-57). When he got home he immediately called 911. He met a police officer and led her to the location where he'd found the body (9/457-58; see 9/465-67,472-74).

Hillsborough County Sheriff's officers arrived at the scene at St. Timothy's Church around 11:20 p.m. (9/468-69; 11/717).

Deputies Roberts and Beck spotted the body of a white female lying face down in the water; they checked for a pulse and found none (9/470-71; 11/722). The body was totally naked; without any clothing or underwear (9/471,508). The deceased was identified by stipulation as Leanne Coryell (12/872; 4/694).

Officers secured the area, and photographed and videotaped the scene (4/470,477-79; 9/513-15; 11/726). Various articles of women's clothing, including a pair of blue shoes, beige trousers, a blue pullover shirt, a brown belt, and a bra and panties, were found in a sandy and grassy area near an oak tree, which was up a

little embankment from the pond (9/480-96, 507, 515-16; 11/722-23). There were some shoeprints in the general area where the clothing was found. Photographs and dental stone impressions were taken of these (9/479,498-02, 506-08). Divers from the Sheriff's Office searched the pond the next morning but found nothing of evidentiary significance (11/740-43).

The only car in the area was a black Infiniti, which was later established as belonging to Leanne Coryell. The keys were in the ignition and the engine was slightly warm (11/726-27). The automobile was removed from the scene and was subsequently inventoried and processed for evidence (9/523-24, 544-47; 11/809-14). Detective Minton took carpet samples and vacuumed for hairs and fibers (11/814). Eight latent prints were collected. All of these were from the exterior of the vehicle; they were unable to lift any prints from the interior or from the steering column. One of the latent prints was from the rear window on the driver's side (11/810-14,823,826).

Ms. Coryell's body was transported to the medical examiner's office, where an autopsy was performed by Dr. Russell Vega (10/628-29). Dr. Vega determined that the cause of death was manual strangulation (10/630-34,665,680). In Dr. Vega's opinion, the time of death was within a six hour period prior to 3:00 a.m. (10/631, see 10/624). Death occurred before the body was placed in the water (10/630-31). From the pattern of mud on the body and the presence of scrapes, Dr. Vega concluded that the body was dragged from some point on the bank or shore into the pond, and

that the victim was not wearing underwear or a dress at the time she was being dragged (10/640-43). Dr. Vega testified that depending on certain variables, death by strangulation usually takes a very short time, ranging from one to two minutes or less, to four or five minutes or perhaps a little longer (10/634).

Dr. Vega observed facial lacerations, one to the lower lip and one to the chin, which were consistent with blunt impact, such as a punch or falling to the ground (10/636-39). There was bruising on both the left and right sides of the buttocks. There was some superficial bruising, and also some deeper bruising in a very distinct pattern. Dr. Vega compared the injuries to the buttocks with the metal appliques on the belt which was found at the scene, and reached the conclusion that the injuries were inflicted by multiple blows from that belt. Specifically, in his opinion, the oval applique caused the bruising to the left buttock and the rectangular applique caused the bruising to the right buttock (10/643-52,669-71). Dr. Vega believed that the belt was grasped together at both ends to form a loop (10/650-51). Another object or a hand may also have caused some of the bruising (10/670-71,688-89).

Dr. Vega observed several external injuries -- and one internal injury, a small mucosal tear -- to the vaginal area. In his opinion, this indicated penetration by a relatively hard, blunt object (which could include a penis or an object other than a penis) (10/652-54,672-76). Dr. Vega believed that these injuries were the result of forcible penetration or contact

(10/688). He did not believe that the bruise to the right side of the vaginal orifice could likely have been caused by an errant stroke from the belt (10/672-76). Dr. Vega stated the opinion that the injuries to Ms. Coryell's lips and chin, buttocks, and vaginal area were all inflicted while she was alive, but at or near the time of death (10/639-40,654-46,649-50,652-54). Some soil and grass was observed between the fingers of her left hand, which, in Dr. Vega's opinion, were probably grasped during the assault (10/659-61).

In the course of the autopsy, vaginal, anal, and oral swabs, and hair combings were taken. The medical examiner's office does not conduct the testing on these items. Dr. Vega later received information than no semen was found (10/655,679-80).

Surveillance photographs and videos of appellant using automatic teller machines at a Barnett Bank, a Nations Bank, and a McDonald's, all on North Dale Mabry, were introduced into evidence. These transactions occurred in the late evening of August 19, 1997, and the following morning of August 20 (9/432-35,436-30,570-71; 11/753-55,831-33). Ms. Coryell's ATM card had a \$500 daily limit (11/838-39,850). Altogether, there were four attempted transactions on the night of August 19, resulting in \$500 being dispensed on the first attempt; and six attempted transactions on the morning of August 20, resulting in another \$500 being dispensed on the first attempt (13/1050-54; see 11/842-50; 13/1044-50).

While investigating Ms. Coryell's death on August 20, 1997, Detective Iverson obtained the three ATM videos, made still photographs from them, and provided them to the media (11/752-55). Soon the detectives began receiving phone calls regarding the photograph of a individual using Ms. Coryell's ATM card (9/549-50). As a result of these calls, a search warrant was obtained for appellant's apartment. A pair of wet tennis shoes, and a pair of shorts similar to those they'd seen on the videotape, were seized from appellant's bathroom (9/550-52).

Appellant was interviewed by Detective Ernest Walters just after 2:00 a.m. on August 21, 1997; Detective Iverson was also present (9/553; 11/757-58). Appellant was not under arrest. He stated that he had come because he knew they were looking for him because his photograph had been televised; he came down to explain the situation (9/955; 10/592-93,603; 11/767). Appellant said he had known Leanne Coryell for several weeks. He had seen her at the apartment complex swimming pool and at Malio's restaurant, and they had gone out to dinner a couple of times. They became friends, but their relationship was not sexual (9/556-57; 10/587,597,604-05). On August 19, at about 6:15 p.m., they met at Malio's. They had a drink and then decided to go to Carabba's on Northdale for dinner. They arrived at Carabba's, in separate cars, around 7:30 or 7:45, and left there between 8:30 and 9:00. Appellant was going to go for a run, and Ms. Coryell was going to shop for groceries (9/557-59; 10/607-09); 11/759). When they separated at Carabba's, Ms. Coryell gave appellant here ATM card and PIN number to repay \$1200 which he had loaned her (9/559-60).

Appellant went home, changed his clothes, and went for his run. When he got home again, he had a disagreement with his roommate, Gary, over rent and cable TV payments (9/56-61,573-74; 10/585-86,613). He took a shower (either before or after the argument with Gary) and left the apartment. He went first to Taco Bell, then (between 11:00 - 11:30 p.m.) to Barnett Bank, where he found that the ATM wasn't working, and then to Nations Bank, where he withdrew \$500 (9/560-61; 10/586,613-14).

At this point in the interview, appellant was placed under arrest for grand theft and was read his Miranda rights. He indicated that he understood his rights and agreed to continue the interview (9/562-66; 11/770-71).

The detectives told appellant that Ms. Coryell's time card indicated that she did not leave work until approximately 8:35. Appellant replied that evidently one of her co-workers had punched the clock for her (9/567-68; 11/763). When asked for the names of people who might have seen them at Malio's, appellant was unable to provide the names of anyone who saw him and Ms. Coryell together, but he stated that he goes to Malio's often and he is well known there (9/568-69). At Carabba's, Ms. Coryell had a salad; appellant didn't remember what he'd eaten. He did not recall if the waiter was male or female (9/569-70). Detective Walters asked appellant why Ms. Coryell would date someone like him, when she was known to date doctors, or people of influence

who had money and were well dressed. Appellant said they never discussed what either of them did for employment (9/570). Walters commented that it seemed strange that someone he'd known only a short time would lend him her bank card and PIN number. Appellant said it wasn't strange to him, and that he had loaned his bank card to friends on prior occasions (9/572).

Appellant acknowledged that the tennis shoes and shorts he had worn while running were the same ones found in the bathroom of his apartment (9/574-76). The shoes got wet when he jumped in the apartment complex' hot tub fully clothed after his run (9/575-76; 11/763).

Appellant knew that Ms. Coryell drove a newer model black vehicle. Asked if he'd ever been inside her car, appellant said he had not (10/586; 11/772). The detectives asked him if his fingerprints would be in or on the car. Appellant said his prints might be on the exterior of the car, as he had leaned against it while speaking to Ms. Coryell previously (10/586-87,606-07; 11/771-72). When asked if he had had any involvement in or knowledge concerning her death, he stated that he did not (10/590-91; see 10/597; 11/769). The second time he was asked if he had anything to do with Ms. Coryell's death, appellant advised detectives that they would not find any hairs or DNA or other physical evidence that would link him to the case (10/591; 11/772).

Detective Walters asked appellant where the ATM card was.

Appellant said that when he was back at Malio's the day after the

homicide, people were telling him they'd seen his picture on the news. He left the restaurant, and while traveling north on Lois just north of Kennedy Avenue, he panicked and threw the card out the window (9/591-92; 11/763-64). The investigating officers attempted to locate the card on Lois Avenue, but they were unsuccessful (10/594,617; 11/763-64).

Detective Walters testified that during the search of Ms. Coryell's black Infiniti, nothing was found inside the vehicle that could be linked to appellant (10/617-19).

The state introduced videotapes of two news broadcasts in which appellant spoke with reporters by telephone from the jail (12/965-68,978; see 12/957-58). In both conversations, appellant denied killing Leanne Coryell (19/966-67,978). They were friends, and she had given him her ATM card and PIN number to withdraw money to repay a loan (12/966,978). He was supposed to meet her the next day back at Malio's; when he got there he learned of her death, and some people said they'd seen his picture on TV. He left and drove around for a while, then called the Sheriff's department and went down there on his own (12/966-67). Appellant told the reporter that the detectives had asked him about samples for DNA testing, and that they were welcome to test anything they wanted to; they would not find anything -whether fluids, semen, hair, or skin -- that would link him (9/967).

The state presented the testimony of several of Leanne
Coryell's friends and co-workers that she had never mentioned to

them anyone named Ray Johnston (8/293-94,313; 9/403; 12/980-91, 898,907). Two of her friends, who were part of her social circle and who said they knew the men she dated, testified that they did not know her to go to Malio's (12/896-97,904-06).

Malio's is a nightclub/restaurant on South Dale Mabry. Michael Swenson, the manager who doubles as a bartender, testified that he knew appellant as a regular customer (11/697-701). Sometimes there were women at his table (11/699). On August 19, 1997, appellant was in the bar at around 5:00 or 5:30 (11/699, see 704-06). According to Swenson, he was not with a woman that evening (11/700). Appellant was back in the bar the next night, August 20 (11/699, see 704-06). Swenson saw on television a photograph of appellant at an ATM machine (11/699,705).

At trial, Swenson was shown a photograph of Leanne Coryell. He had previously been shown a photograph of her a few days after her death. He testified that he did not see her in the bar on August 19, 1997, nor had he ever seen her before (11/700-01).

Appellant's apartment was searched twice pursuant to warrant, the first time around 11:00 p.m. on August 20, and the second time a few days later (11/756-57,765-66,851-52). A pair of tennis shoes were obtained from the master bathroom (11/756-57,773,852). Detective Iverson did not know whether these had any evidentiary significance (11/773). Aside possibly from that, nothing was found in either search to link appellant to Ms.

Coryell's death (11/765-66). Terrell Kingery is an FDLE crime lab analyst; one of his fields is footwear impression comparison (11/775-78). He explained that class characteristics are produced by design during the manufacture of a shoe, such as the shape, tread pattern, brand name, or logo. On the other hand, individual (or accidental) characteristics are those added or taken away from a shoe -- usually resulting from wear -- that cause the shoe to become unique or one of a kind (11/781-82). If there are enough individual characteristics which can be seen with enough clarity, you can establish an identification (11/783). Class characteristics, in contrast, can only be used for elimination purposes (11/781,799).

Kingery compared four sets of cast impressions from the crime scene (State Exhibits 26, 27, 28, and 29) with the tennis shoes found in appellant's apartment. He found a total of three partial impressions that were consistent in class characteristics with appellant's shoes (11/783-96,798-99). He also found some dissimilar or inconsistent impressions as well (11/799). Since the shoe impressions were partial -- i.e., lacking "a complete recording from toe to heel" -- Kingery could not tell the size of the shoes that made the impressions on the ground (11/798-99). In the three impressions which were similar or consistent, Kingery found no individual characteristics nor anything specific to match them to appellant's shoes, and therefore he could not say whether appellant's shoes did or did not make the impressions (11/800-01). Kingery cannot determine the age of a footwear

impression (11/797). The affidavit of Rodd Patten, a Reebok product development executive, was introduced be the defense. Patten had been asked by law enforcement to identify the tread design in the shoe impressions, and he initially concluded that (on the presumption that it was indeed a Reebok shoe and not a counterfeit or knockoff) the impression was that of a men's Reebok Classic Nylon (style no. 6390 or 6604). This model was introduced on the market in August 1994, and over the next three years 588,054 pairs of Classic Nylon with this tread design were produced (14/1172-75). Later, after reviewing additional documents and consulting with his supervisor, Patten learned that Reebok produced a couple of dozen other models of shoes with the identical tread design (14/1172-75).

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