### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RAY LAMAR JOHNSTON,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. SC00-979

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT, IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

### ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KIMBERLY NOLEN HOPKINS
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar I.D. No. 0986682
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607
Phone: (813) 801-0600
Fax: (813) 356-1292

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

No abuse of discretion resulted from the trial court's denial of Appellant's motion for new trial relating to Juror Robinson's service on the quilt phase jury. First, Robinson was not under prosecution by the Hillsborough State Attorney's Office during Appellant's trial based upon a capias issued for a Where the failure to pay such failure to pay court costs. financial obligations constitutes only civil contempt, Robinson was fully qualified to sit on the jury. Second, no error can be ascribed to Robinson's failure to disclose a prior conviction where defense counsel neglected to inquire of any juror concerning prior criminal accusations. Moreover, this particular sub-claim was not preserved where the motion to interview juror was untimely filed. And, finally, the trial court's decision to refuse to allow an interview of Juror Robinson concerning her possible drug use during the course of Appellant's trial was proper where Appellant offered no concrete evidence to support this baseless allegation.

Issue II: Appellant's challenge to voir dire is without merit where the trial judge specifically ruled that individual and sequestered voir dire could be conducted on a limited basis. Even if the trial judge had prohibited individual voir dire, no error would have occurred where the alleged pretrial publicity was too remote in time from the commencement of Appellant's trial to have impacted the jurors. Finally, Appellant's acceptance of the jury

panel without objection waived his ability to challenge any alleged bias on the part of the jurors on appeal.

Issues III and IV: Where Appellant failed to present any evidence in support of the statutory mitigator concerning whether Appellant acted under an extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the offense, no error resulted from the trial court's failure to consider this mitigator in the sentencing order or in the failure to instruct the jury on said mitigator.

### ARGUMENT

### ISSUE I

APPELLANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO A NEW TRIAL BASED UPON ANY ALLEGED ERROR STEMMING FROM TRACY ROBINSON'S SERVICE ON APPELLANT'S JURY DURING THE GUILT PHASE OF THIS CAPITAL TRIAL. (AS RESTATED BY APPELLEE).

Appellant seeks a new trial based upon three separate challenges to Tracy Robinson's service on his jury during the guilt phase of the trial. First, Appellant claims that Robinson was under prosecution by the Hillsborough State Attorney's Office during Appellant's trial, and, as such, was not qualified to sit on the jury. Second, Appellant maintains that Robinson's failure to disclose her prior conviction, as well as her capias status, denied him a fair trial. And, finally, Appellant complains that the trial court reversibly erred in failing to allow an interview of Juror Robinson concerning her possible drug use during the course of Appellant's trial. As discussed below, none of these three challenges demonstrate an abuse of discretion resulting from the trial court's denial of Appellant's Motion for New Trial. See Stephens v. State, 26 Fla. L. Weekly S161 (Fla. March 15, 2001).

# A. Whether Juror Robinson was "under prosecution" such that she was not qualified to serve on Appellant's jury.

Relying upon <u>Lowery v. State</u>, 705 So. 2d 1367 (Fla. 1998), Appellant argues that Juror Robinson's capias status at the time of his trial rendered her unqualified to serve on the jury. According to <u>Lowery</u>, 705 So. 2d 1367, 1368, "where it is not revealed to a

defendant that a juror is under prosecution by the same office that is prosecuting the defendant's case, inherent prejudice to the defendant is presumed and the defendant is entitled to a new trial."

However, Robinson was not actually "under prosecution" at any time during the guilt phase of Appellant's trial. Consequently, Robinson was perfectly qualified to serve on Appellant's jury.

After the jury found Appellant guilty, but before the penalty phase began, Juror Robinson was arrested for possession of marijuana and cocaine. The trial court then excused her from the jury over the *objection* of defense counsel. By the time the defense argued its motion to interview juror, all parties had learned that a capias had also been outstanding for Juror Robinson during the guilt phase of the trial. (21/2233-2237). The capias was based solely upon Juror Robinson's failure to pay court costs

Here, the trial court found that no "inherent prejudice" existed because Juror Robinson could not have known about the outstanding capias. In view of the particular circumstances of the issuance of the warrant against Robinson, the facts of <u>Lowery</u> are readily distinguishable. In <u>Lowery</u>, the juror had been aware of an investigation being conducted regarding battery charges and actually initiated a discussion with the prosecutor regarding the charges. Juror Robinson, on the other hand, had no way of knowing that the capias had been issued and nothing on the record demonstrated otherwise. Thus, no appearance of impropriety can be attributed to Robinson's jury service.

However, to the extent that this Court may accept Appellant's argument that the juror's knowledge of the capias was irrelevant, the State would rely upon the "tipsy coachman" rule. See Lowery v. State, 766 So. 2d 417 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2000) (court may affirm trial court decision deemed "right for a different reason"), citing Carraway v. Armour & Co., 156 So. 2d 495 (Fla. 1963).

in the amount of \$150.00, stemming from her plea of nolo contendere to a charge of obstructing an officer without violence. (5/787). Appellant's suppositions to the contrary, Juror Robinson was never on probation or any other type of supervision based upon the obstruction charge. Instead, the court documents reveal that adjudication was withheld and the court costs mentioned above were imposed. (5/849-850). Again, the failure to pay costs was the only basis for the capias. Under these circumstances, Juror Robinson was never "under prosecution" during the course of Appellant's trial.

First, and foremost, the failure to pay court costs in a criminal case does not constitute a crime in and of itself. Instead, as set forth in Section 938.30(9), Florida Statutes, failure to pay court costs in criminal proceedings results simply in civil contempt. Section 938.30(2) further explains that a court may require a person obligated to pay court costs to appear regarding said obligation and that failure to comply can result in arrest or the issuance of a capias, as occurred in Juror Robinson's case. However, nowhere in Section 938.30, dealing with courtimposed financial obligations in criminal cases, does the legislature indicate that failure to pay court costs may result in a criminal charge. As such, Juror Robinson could not have been "under prosecution" based upon civil contempt for failure to pay court costs where she had not committed a crime for which she could

be prosecuted. <u>See generally Parsons v. Wennet</u>, 625 So. 2d 945, 947 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1993) (criminal contempt is an actual crime punishable by law; civil contempt is not a crime). <u>See also Ducksworth v. Boyer</u>, 125 So. 2d 844, 845 (Fla. 1960) (civil contempt is neither a felony nor a misdemeanor, but a power of the courts).

Additionally, while a capias was issued for Juror Robinson's arrest, no information or indictment was ever filed for failing to pay costs (obviously, because the failure to pay did not constitute a crime). Since a prosecution does not commence until a charging document is filed, Juror Robinson was not "under prosecution" based upon the mere issuance of the capias. See Brown v. State, 674 So. 2d 738, 740 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995) ("A prosecution is commenced when 'either an indictment or information is filed, provided the capias, summons, or other process issued on such indictment or information is executed without unreasonable delay.' §775.15(5), Fla. Stat. (1993).") Even if the failure to pay court costs was a crime, the issuance of the capias prior to the filing of a charging document would have precluded the State from proceeding against Juror See Spicer v. State, 613 So. 2d 548 (Fla. 3d DCA Robinson. 1993) (writ of prohibition precluding court from proceeding to trial against defendant granted where capias improperly issued before information filed).

Finally, Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.730 provides the

trial court with the power to issue a capias "from time to time." However, this power to compel the attendance of an individual in court does not mean that the issuance of a capias equals the commencement of prosecution for a criminal offense. In fact, Section 939.04, Florida Statutes, also specifically provides that "[i]n all cases less than capital, wherein the defendant may be adjudged to pay costs, a capias may be issued, as is provided for the collection of fines and forfeitures," without any provision that the issuance of such a capias results in a criminal prosecution.

As such, Juror Robinson's service on the jury was appropriate despite the capias for failure to pay court costs. Where no crime occurred, no charging documents were filed and no prosecution commenced, Juror Robinson was simply not "under prosecution" to the extent that she should have been prohibited from jury service in this case.

# B. Whether Juror Robinson's alleged concealment of her prior conviction during voir dire requires a new trial.

Next, Appellant complains that a new trial must be granted because Juror Robinson failed to reveal the fact of her prior conviction during voir dire. Appellant correctly sets out the three part test relevant to a juror's non-disclosure of information during voir dire as follows:

1) the information must be relevant and material to jury service in the case; 2) the information must be concealed by the juror during voir dire examination; and 3) the

failure to discover the concealed information must not be due to the want of diligence of the complaining party.

<u>See De La Rosa v. Zequeira</u>, 659 So. 2d 239, 241 (Fla. 1995). However, Appellant is not entitled to relief on this claim.

Initially, as Appellant candidly notes, this issue is not preserved for appeal. At no time did defense counsel ask the trial court to interview Juror Robinson because she may have concealed information during voir dire. Neither the defense Motion to Interview Juror<sup>2</sup>, (5/781-783), the defense Motion for Judgment of Acquittal or Motion for New Trial<sup>3</sup>, (5/778-780), nor defense counsel's oral argument on said motion, (21/2232-2242), contain any mention of concealment on the part of Juror Robinson during voir dire. As such, this particular sub-issue is procedurally barred. See Lucas v. Mast, 758 So. 2d 1194, 1196 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000) (citations omitted) (new trial denied where claim regarding failure of juror to disclose litigation history not preserved and not fundamental).

Alternatively, Appellant's argument also fails on the merits. While the State initially asked all prospective jurors about prior criminal accusations, no juror volunteered any information on the topic without further direct questioning. Moreover, when the

In fact, the Motion to Interview Juror was actually untimely where it was filed more than 10 days following the verdict. See Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.590 and 3.600; also see generally Beyel Bros. Inc. v. Lemenze, 720 So. 2d 556, 557 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1998).

<sup>3</sup> The Motion for New Trial actually claims error resulted because the trial court dismissed Juror Robinson from service.

prosecutor asked Juror Robinson who it was that she knew who had been accused of a crime, she volunteered the information about her child's father and then the prosecutor moved on to other jurors without following up to ask her if she or anyone else she knew had been involved in a criminal prosecution. (7/126-127). Finally, neither of the two defense attorneys who participated in voir dire asked a single question of any juror regarding the topic of prior criminal accusations. (7/168-231). Under these circumstances, Appellant has failed to demonstrate error meriting a new trial.

Comparing the facts of this case to the three part test announced in <u>De La Rosa</u>, Appellant cannot prevail on this claim. First, Appellant cannot argue that Juror Robinson's prior conviction was material to the case. One factor in determining whether the withheld information was sufficiently material is whether Appellant would have exercised a peremptory challenge. <u>See Tejada v. Roberts</u>, 760 So. 2d 960, 965 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000), rev. granted, 786 So. 2d 1188 (2001). Based upon the fact that Appellant challenged the removal of Juror Robinson from the jury after she was arrested for drug possession during Appellant's trial, Appellant cannot now argue that a peremptory challenge would have been used against Juror Robinson during jury selection.

Second, a juror's answer cannot constitute concealment where counsel does not inquire further to clarify any ambiguity relating to the information sought. See Birch v. Albert, 761 So. 2d 355,

358 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000) (citations omitted). As such, where both the prosecutor and defense counsel failed to follow up with Juror Robinson to clarify any additional prior criminal accusations, no improper concealment can be attributed to Juror Robinson's answers.

See Birch, 761 So. 2d 355, 358 (juror squarely answered the asked questions and there was no follow-up inquiry requesting information on her entire litigation history).

Finally, and most importantly, defense counsel failed to diligently discover this information. As noted above, defense counsel failed to ask a single question during voir dire regarding any juror's prior criminal litigation history. See Ford Motor Co. v. D'Amario, 732 So. 2d 1143, 1146 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999), rev. granted, 743 So. 2d 508 (1999) (no error regarding jurors' answers regarding prior litigation history where appellees did not ask a single question on this topic). Where defense counsel failed to follow up with any of the jurors on their prior criminal litigation history or even to follow up with Juror Robinson on the criminal history she did reveal, "...any failure to disclose additional prior legal proceedings was due to the defendant's lack of due diligence and thus cannot constitute active concealment on the part of the juror." See Birch, 761 So. 2d 355, 358 (citations omitted).

By way of comparison, in <u>Birch</u>, 761 So. 2d at 356, the juror revealed a prior workers' compensation suit, but failed to mention a suit regarding an unpaid medical bill. No follow-up inquiry

requesting information on the juror's entire litigation history was made. Thus, the appellate court determined that reversal was not required where the three part test of <u>De La Rosa</u> was not met. <u>See id.</u> Similarly, in this case, Appellant cannot demonstrate that the claimed error regarding Juror Robinson violates the <u>De La Rosa</u> test.

# C. Whether the trial court reversibly erred in failing to allow an interview of Juror Robinson.

Appellant claims the trial court erred by denying him the opportunity to interview Juror Robinson concerning her possible use of illegal drugs during the course of the trial. As mentioned above, this particular sub-issue is procedurally barred where the Motion to Interview Juror was untimely. Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.590 and 3.600 provide for the procedure to be followed when a defendant seeks a new trial based upon a claim of juror misconduct. Specifically, Rule 3.590(a) requires that a motion for new trial be filed within 10 days of rendition of the verdict. Here, the Motion for New Trial, while timely, was silent as to the request to interview Juror Robinson. The actual Motion to Interview Juror was not filed until July 6, 1999, 19 days after the verdict was rendered on June 17, 1999. (5/777). As such, the

A Notably, prior to the closing arguments in the penalty phase, defense counsel asked that the trial judge bring Juror Robinson over to the courtroom and inquire of her whether she was under the influence of cocaine at any time during the guilt phase or during deliberations. At that time, the trial judge denied the oral request and told defense counsel to file a motion. (18/1765). However, the written motion was still untimely.

trial court was without jurisdiction to entertain the motion to interview Juror Robinson. <u>See e.g.</u>, <u>State v. Bodden</u>, 756 So. 2d 1111, 1112-1113 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000), citing to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.590(a).

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